Ross, J. Gardner (-1932) was born in Nantucket, Massachusetts, the son of James, Jr. and Sarah
Ross. He graduated from Newton Theological Institute. He served as pastor of churches in
Connecticut, Tennessee, North Carolina, Pennsylvania, Ohio and Florida including Bethel
Baptist Institutional Church, Jacksonville from 1885-1890 and Trinity Baptist Church,
Jacksonville.

Visit our website floridabaptisthistory.org







































Bethel Nhulce/i

HISTORY
1868 io 1968

The Colored congregation purchased a Lot on the Northwest
corner of Main and Pine Streets (Now Main and Union) built a
Church and called the Rev. Cataline Simmons as their first Pastor.

This was in 1868, Rev. Simmons served twelve years in this
building and the Church continued its worship until it was displaced
by a large Red Brick Structure in 1895 at a cost of $26,000. This
Church building was destroyed by the great fire May 3, 1901.

Rev. Roger D. Dunbar, the second Pastor, was about 40 years old when he was Called in the
year 1880 and served the Church five years and two months. Under the Pastorate of Rev. Dunbar,
the Church developed and prospered. He was kind, benevolent and gifted with the faculty of
spiritual eloquence. He stood alone in the ability to make his Members shout and was distin-
guished for his magnetism and lovingness. It was during his Pastorate that a rupture in the
Church occurred and the Harmony Baptist Church was founded.

The Board of Deacons was organized by the Rev. C. B. Simmons with the brothers listed who
served until death:

Alonzo Williams, Richard Frazier, James Johnson, Sam Spearing, Charles
Singleton. James Williams, Peter Clark, Evans Dukes and Charles Hunter.

As the Church increased in size, the Deacons were increased to nine by Rev. J. Milton Waldron
and later to twelve, then to seventeen as we find now in the Church. The Deacons Board is the
oldest organization in the Church and represents the Key Board as to organization and over looks
the spiritual interest of the Church. Deacon Samuel Dennis served as Chairman of the Board for
many years and was greatly loved and respected by the entire Membership. He was Chairman at
the time this present site was purchased and had a lot to do in the construction of this Edifice.
Others who have been privileged to hold this position are, James Johnson, Samuel Spearing,
Charles Hunter, E. W. Latson, Sr., J. D. Thomas, Keith C. Hines, W. H. Lee, A. H. Hudson, Samuel
Smith and the present Chairman L. M. Argrett.

The first Recorded Trustees — Thomas Lancaster, Milton Christopher, Captain John Floyd,
Samuel Spearing. Sr., J. H. Ballou, Mike Preston, N. L. Walden, Attorney D. W. Perkins, S. A.
Brookins. L. D. Ervin, Isaac Johnson. Nathan W. Collier, C. W. J. Blackshear. Some of the later
Trustees — James Whittington. Dr. George F. Waters, Dr. E. W. Thompson, R. G. W. McLendon,
Earl O. Mathis, William Broadway, George W. Powell, E. L. Weems, St. Clair Evans, E. L. Harris,
Alvin Hampton. Robert Singleton, Andrew Martin, Theodore Redding, Portia Thorington, Sibyl
Butler. Georgiana Bowen, J. B. Brooks, Herbert Putman, Theodore Montgomery, C. M. Howeﬁ,
Howard Singleton, Rudolph Daniels. J. 1. E. Scott, J. H. Argrett, M. R. Trible, James A. Joyner,
and Richard McKissick.

The following Brothers have been privileged to serve as Church Treasurer — Charles Singleton,
Alonzo Williams, Fred Crump, E. W. Latson. Arthur L. Payne, S. A. Brookins, R. L. Butler
and the present Treasurer E. L. Harris.

Those who have served as Church Clerk are Henderson Campbell, F. J. Crump, John A. Clark.
A. Charles Robinson, Mike Preston, Sam Dennis, L. M. Argrett, Courtney J. Smith, Cassius Jones
and the present Clerk Thaddius Pinkney.

P Rev. J. Gardner Ross the Third Pastor of Bethel, was born on the Island of Nantucket, Massa-
chusetts, lInd leeetved hi<§ early training on the island in Boston. Rev. Ross was Called to the
Pastorate of Bethel about 1885 and served to 1890. During his Pastorate, Bethel suffered another
rupture and Trinity Baptist Church (now called Central) was founded. It was located on the South
West Corner of Beaver and Newnan, later to 100 Block West State Street and now on Third Street
between Broad and Jefferson. During the Pastorate of Rev. Ross, the first Brick Church was con-
templated and building began November 29, 1889.

Rev. Matthew W. Gilbert the Fourth Pastor of Bethel was Called during the early part of 1890
and served faithfully for two years. During his Pastorate the Flordia Baptist Academy was founded
in Bethel, with Rev. Gilbert as its first President. Later the name to Florida Normal and Industrial
Institute, and under the Presidency of Professor Nathan W. Collier it was moved to Saint Augus-
tine. Florida. Preparations and plans are completed to move the new Florida Memorial College to
Miami, Florida. Dr. R. W. Puryear is the present President.

In addition to Central Baptist Church the following Churches began in Bethel:
Greenland, Second Baptist, Day Spring, St. Luke. Ebenezer (Chaseville.
Florida). Bethel Baptist (South Jacksonville), Second Bethel and Panama
Park Baptist Church.
Truly Bethel is the “Mother" Baptist Church of Florida.



THE FIRST FRAME CHURCH

Rev, J. Gardner Ross, the third Pas-
tor of Bethel, was born on the Island
of Nantucket, Mass, and received his
early training on the Island in Boston.
Rev. Ross was called to the Pastorate
of Bethel about 1885 and served five
years. During his Pastorate, Bethel
suffered another rupture and Trinity
Church (now called Central Baptist)
was founded. It was located on the
southwest corner of Beaver and New-
nan. The first contemplated brick
church was during the Pastorate of
Rev. R.oss and was begun November
29, 1889 with the following brothers
as the Building Committee: Finance,

John Floyd and Samuel Dennis; Brick, E. W. Latson, John Nattiel, John S. Pintard, Frank Holt and Charles
Williams; Dollar Roll Committee, C. J. Ladson. J. H. Ballou and R. M. Scott; Foreign Church. M. J. Christo-
pher, Moses Cook. Peter Clark, John Rivers and Fred Crump; Pledge Committee, J. W. Hunter, R. Bolding

and Washington White; Foreign Solicitation: Rev. J Gardner Ross.

A plan was decided upon to hold a public meeting January 12,
1889 to raise funds for the new edifice and the following Ministers
were invited: Reverends Alexander Ellis, E. K. Love, John L. Dart,
J. L. A. Fish, H. C. Bailey and C. U. Hampton. On February 28,
1890, the work of drawing the plans for the Church was given to
W. Herbert Wood, but for reasons best known to the Church, he
was not permitted to complete them and the firm of Ellis & McClus.
architects, was employed to finish same with a deposit of $25. The
plan of consummation failed.

Rev. Matthew W. Gilbert, the fourth Pastor of Bethel was call-
ed to the Church during the early part of 1890 and served faith-
fully for two years. During his Pastorate, the Florida Baptist
Academy was founded in Bethel with Rev. Gilbert as its first Presi-
dent. Today this school is known as the Florida Norma 1 a.nd
Industrial Institute of St. Augustine, Flo rida; an institution of
which the entire State is proudTProf. Nathan W. Collier succeeded
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THE FIRST BRICK CHURCH — 1895

J. T. Brown and. today is actively engaged in carrying this great school to higher heights.
In the month of April 1891 the Church voted to send the Pastor, Rev. Gilbert to the Baptist Annivers-
ary in Cincinnati, Ohio, which convened May 20, 1890. It is noted that during this time the church negotiat-

THE SHACK AFTER THE FIRE — 1901

ed the purchase of some property be-
longing to the Daughters of Israel
Church Benevolent Society for the
consideration of $1000. The Church
also owned some property in the
Panama Section of the City. During
this period, Bethel was conducting
three preaching services on Sundays.
On Sunday June 4, 1891, the Church
voted that the services be cut to two
services on Sundays — 11:00 O’clock
A. M. and 8:00 O’clock P. M., except

on the First Sunday Afternoon of
each month when the Monthly Comm-
union would be helil and on the Four-
th Sunday Afternoon when the Month-
ly Covenant would be held. The duty
of each generation is to gather up its
inheritance from the past and thus to
serve the present and prepare better

things for the future.









